1961

Walter Larson, Aleida P. Larson and Jon Larson v. Robert George Evans, M.D. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiffs brought this action to recover damages against the defendant for personal injuries and property damage growing out of an automobile accident at the intersection of Evergreen Avenue and 23rd East Street on the evening of October 23, 1958, at approximately 8:50 p.m.

Plaintiffs appeal to this court from a jury verdict of no cause of action based upon its finding that plaintiff

Jon Larson, the driver of the automobile in which the plaintiffs were riding, was contributorily negligent, and that such contributory negligence was the proximate cause of the accident and plaintiffs' injuries. The lower court also held that the negligence of Jon Larson was imputed to the other plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The undisputed facts in this case, as determined by the lower court and set forth in the pretrial order (R. 14-17), establish that the accident complained of occurred at the intersection of Evergreen Avenue and 23rd East Street in Salt Lake County on October 23, 1958, at approximately 8:50 p.m., and that traffic entering said intersection from Evergreen Avenue was controlled by a stop sign at the time of the accident. The plaintiffs were proceeding north on 23rd East Street in an automobile driven by Jon Larson, one of the plaintiffs. The defendant was driving west on Evergreen Avenue.

The testimony in the case was not contradictory and, even viewing it in the most favorable light for the defendant, consisted of the undisputed facts hereinafter set forth. The defendant testified that he was proceeding at 30 miles per hour or less and that he did not see the stop sign controlling his entrance to 23rd East Street and that he did not stop, or attempt to stop, in obedience to the stop sign. (R. 116, 117, 120, 124, 404). He even admitted that he considered the accident to be his own fault at the trial below (R. 124, 404) in addition to

making such admission to others at the scene of the accident. (R. 136, 174). The defendant testified that his speed at the time of impact was 20 miles per hour. (R. 119). Based upon the above admissions the court instructed the jury that the defendant was negligent as a matter of law. (R. 68).

With respect to the physical nature of the intersection as it existed at the time of the accident the evidence clearly indicated that a dense five or six-foot hedge and house obscured from the vision of the plaintiffs all west-bound traffic approaching 23rd East on Evergreen Avenue. The existence of such hedge, as shown on plaintiffs' Exhibit P-1 to extend along the south side of Evergreen Avenue to within a few feet of the edge of 23rd East, was confirmed by the defendant (R. 121), Deputy Sheriff Clifford J. Gunn (R. 127, 422), Clifford A. Coon (R. 136-137), Jon Larson (R. 175), and Alice Taggart (R. 366-367). The defendant admitted that the hedge obscured his vision of the northbound Larson vehicle on 23rd East. (R. 121). Deputy Sheriff Clifford J. Gunn testified that one could not see through the hedge because of its density on the night of the accident. (R. 422).

The width of Evergreen Avenue was established at 24 feet by Deputy Sheriff Gunn (R. 416) and plaintiff Jon Larson (R. 411). The right front of the Larson vehicle collided with the left front of the defendant's automobile at a point 21 feet 5 inches north from the projected south boundary of Evergreen Avenue as each driver swerved to avoid the collision after which both

vehicles came to rest facing north in the west or south-bound traffic lane of 23rd East Street. (Exhibits P-1, P-4). Deputy Sheriff Gunn testified that the Larson vehicle laid down 40 feet of skid marks prior to the point of impact (R. 128, 417) and that these skid marks commenced 13 feet 8 inches south of the obstructing hedge on Evergreen Avenue. (R. 420). Deputy Sheriff Gunn also testified that the skid marks indicated the speed of the Larson vehicle to be 30 miles per hour and, therefore, the normal reaction distance would be 33 feet from the time the driver was alerted to danger to the point at which the skid marks commenced, resulting in a total distance of 73 feet from the moment the driver of the Larson vehicle was alerted to his peril to the actual point of impact. (R. 419-420). The Deputy Sheriff also stated that there were no skid marks left by defendant's automobile (R. 130, 417) and that there were no skid marks after the point of impact. (R. 416).

Jon Larson testified that he was proceeding north on 23rd East Street at approximately 25 miles per hour which was corroborated by Mrs. Larson. (R. 171, 173, 197, 229). He testified on direct examination that he applied his brakes the instant that he saw the defendant's car and that the car he was driving and the defendant's car entered the intersection at about the same time. (R. 171). When asked what attracted his attention to the defendant's automobile he stated that the first thing he saw were headlights which he could see for about 2 seconds, and that it appeared that the other car "was coming quite fast." (R. 173). With respect to the location of defend-

ant's automobile when he first saw it, Jon stated that it would have been the point at which the defendant's car first became visible to him. (R. 172). On cross-examination he testified that, to the best of his knowledge, the rectangles designated as "E-1" and "L-1" on Exhibit "P-1" represented the location of the defendant's automobile as well as the one he was driving at the moment he first saw the defendant's automobile. (R. 197-198). He also stated that he did not actually recall applying his brakes although he must have done so as shown by the testimony of Deputy Sheriff Gunn. (R. 199). With respect to one's faculty for memory under the circumstances of this accident, Dr. Paul Milligan, who was called as a witness for the defendant, testified that the combined factors of an accident resulting in a broken leg to a loved one could produce a state of shock to one who had suffered neck injuries in the same accident, and that such a state of shock could result in mental confusion and a failure to remember clearly the events precipitating the condition. (R. 399).

The defendant himself testified that, because of the hedge on the south side of Evergreen Avenue, he did not see the Larson vehicle until it was toward the front of him and that he wasn't aware of any danger until he had reached a point in the vicinity of the stop sign on Evergreen Avenue as shown on Exhibit "P-1." (R. 121, 118). Alice Taggart, a passenger in the defendant's automobile, testified that both cars were in the intersection when she first noticed danger. (R. 365).

The court submitted interrogatories to the jurors for their determination as to whether Jon Larson was negligent in the operation of the Larson automobile in that he (a) failed to keep a proper lookout, (b) did not have his car under control, or (c) was driving too fast for existing conditions. The jurors answered "yes" to said interrogatory and found that the negligence of Jon Larson was the proximate cause of the accident and plaintiffs' injuries. (R. 82-83).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT ARE NOT SUSTAINED BY THE EVIDENCE, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF JON LARSON'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFFS AND AGAINST THE DEFENDANT IN ACCORDANCE WITH PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS AS SET FORTH IN PAGES 27, 30 AND 31 OF THE RECORD ON APPEAL AND PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT SET FORTH ON PAGE 430 OF THE RECORD ON APPEAL.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

POINT IV

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GIVING ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 3 FOR THE REASON THAT IT WRONGFULLY UNITED AN INSTRUCTION UPON THE CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF PLAINTIFF JON LARSON WITH AN INSTRUCTION THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

POINT V

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING INSTRUCTION NO. 8 TO THE JURY.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT ARE NOT SUSTAINED BY THE EVIDENCE, AND THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE QUESTION OF JON LARSON'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE TO THE JURY.

It is a basic hornbook law that there must be substantial evidence of negligence to sustain a verdict of negligence. It is also elementary that evidence which makes the question of negligence a matter of mere surmise, conjecture, or speculation, or which gives rise merely to a possibility of negligence, does not justify submission of the case to the jury. See 38 *Am. Jur., Negligence*, §332, P. 1031; 20 *Am. Jur., Evidence*, §1178; 65 *C. J. S., Negligence*, §253, P. 1141. Furthermore, a case should not be left to the jury if the evidence is as consistent with the

absence of negligence as with its existence. See 65 *C. J. S.*, *supra*, footnote 57, for authorities so holding.

The lower court submitted the following interrogatory to the jury in instruction No. 17, which was answered affirmatively by the jury:

“2. Was the plaintiff, Jon Larson, negligent in the operation of the Larson automobile at the time of the accident in one or more of the following contentions?

- (a) That he failed to keep a proper lookout for traffic entering 23rd East and Evergreen Avenue.
- (b) That he did not have his car under control.
- (c) That he was driving too fast for existing conditions.”

An examination of the record in this case fails to disclose any evidence whatsoever upon which the court was justified in submitting the above interrogatory, or any part thereof, to the jury. Let us consider the first contention relating to the failure of Jon Larson to maintain a proper lookout. The only evidence upon which such a finding could be based was the testimony of Jon Larson that, to the best of his recollection, his automobile, as well as the defendant's automobile, had entered the intersection when he first saw the defendant's automobile. This testimony, however, is clearly shown to be subject to the frailty of memory and contrary to the physical evidence (with justification) under the circumstances and trauma of this accident as they affected Mr. Larson. The

defendant's own witness, Dr. Milligan, testified that the combined factors of the accident, together with the injuries suffered by the driver and his knowledge of serious injuries to loved ones, such as that suffered by his mother in the accident, could produce a state of shock resulting in mental confusion and a failure to clearly remember the events precipitating the accident. That this is so is graphically illustrated by the fact that Mr. Larson also testified that he did not actually recall applying his brakes, although it was not disputed, and the evidence is conclusive, that the automobile he was driving laid down 40 feet of skid marks prior to the point of impact. This latter fact was established without contradiction through the testimony of the deputy sheriff who investigated the accident. The same investigating officer presented undisputed evidence that such skid marks, together with reaction time, established that the driver of the Larson vehicle had actually reacted to his visual observations of apparent danger at a point 46 feet 8 inches south of the hedge which was located on the south side of Evergreen Avenue at its intersection with 23rd East Street. Under these circumstances the lower court should have resolved the testimony consistent with the physical facts and the other testimony of the witness. Indeed, this court has held that in weighing the testimony of an individual witness, consideration should not be restricted to isolated portions thereof, but all of the witness' testimony, including that given on direct and on cross-examination, should be considered as whole. *Alvarado v. Tucker*, 2 U. 2d 16, 268 P. 2d 986, citing *Putnam v. Industrial Commission*, 80 U. 187, 14 P. 2d 973, 981. On cross-examination Jon Larson

stated that the skid marks were caused by his car. (R. 199). On direct examination he stated that he saw the defendant's vehicle at the very moment that it could have become visible to him (R. 172), and that he recalled seeing headlights for approximately 2 seconds. (R. 173).

In view of the above physical evidence it is the plaintiffs' contention that the testimony of Jon Larson, upon which the interrogatory relating to proper lookout was submitted, could not be given such probative value by the lower court as to sustain the verdict of the jury as a matter of law. *It is the general rule, and the rule in this state, that testimony which is contrary to uncontroverted physical facts, does not constitute substantial evidence. Haarstrich v. Oregon Short Line R. Co., 70 U. 552, 262 P. 101; 20 Am. Jur., Evidence, §1183; 32 C.J.S., Evidence, §1031(c).*

The undisputed physical evidence indicates that Mr. Larson, who had the right of way, observed some threat to his continued course of travel northward on 23rd East at a point some 46 feet south of the hedge bordering Evergreen and that he reacted in the normal manner by immediately applying his brakes. These facts indicate a remarkable sense of awareness and defensive care on the part of Mr. Larson. Especially is this so in view of the existence of the 5 or 6-foot hedge and house that obstructed his view of Evergreen Avenue entirely. Even the defendant testified that the density of the bushes on the south side of Evergreen was such that he was not aware of any danger and did not see the Larson vehicle

until both vehicles had entered the intersection. (R. 118-121). The defendant's passenger, Alice Taggart, also testified that both cars were in the intersection before she sensed danger which she attributed partly to the existence of the aforementioned shrubbery. (R. 365-366). Certainly, if the defendant's view southward was obliterated by the hedge, Mr. Larson's northward view of Evergreen Avenue was likewise blocked. Under such uncontroverted circumstances Mr. Larson's statement that he did not see the defendant's *car* until both had entered the intersection is undoubtedly true as being the only physical possibility under the circumstances. HOWEVER, the aforementioned physical facts of a previous awareness of danger are even greater testimony of the extreme standard of care actually exercised by Mr. Larson, and his frankness in asserting facts from impaired memory which do not entirely comport with the undisputed physical evidence should not, under any circumstances, serve as the executioner to his cause of action, as well as that of the other plaintiffs, on the gangplank of contributory negligence. Certainly such statements could not, and should not, be held to establish a "preponderance" of the evidence. See *Stickle v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 122 U. 477, 251 P. 2d 867, and *Ray v. Consolidated Freightways*, 4 U 2d 137, 289 P. 2d 196.

This court has held that contributory negligence is a question of law where the evidence shows, with such certainty that reasonable minds could not differ thereon, that the conduct in question either met or failed to meet the standard of due care. *Cooper v. Evans*, 1 U. 2d 68,

262 P. 2d 278; 65 *C.J.S., Negligence*, §255. And, notwithstanding that contributory negligence is ordinarily a question of fact, where undisputed facts lead reasonable minds to one conclusion, the court must declare such conclusion as a matter of law. *Maybee v. Maybee*, 79 U. 585, 11 P. 2d 973. This court has also held that (1) an instruction must be based on evidence; (2) it is prejudicial error to submit a charged act of negligence to a jury for its consideration in the absence of evidence tending to support a finding that the act occurred; (3) a court may not permit a jury to speculate on evidence; and (4) a finding of fact cannot be based on surmise, conjecture, guess, or speculation. *Olsen v. Warwood*, 123 U. 111, 255 P. 2d 725, and cases therein cited. To allow the jury to consider the question of whether or not Jon Larson maintained a proper lookout for traffic entering 23rd East on Evergreen Avenue under the undisputed physical facts and evidence in this case does violence to every rule above set forth. Such a ruling would result in the realization of a practice clearly denounced by Judge Wolfe in the case of *Pauly v. McCarthy*, 109 U. 398, 166 P. 2d 501, 513-514, where he cited Lord Cairns in *Metropolitan Railway Co. v. Jackson*, 3 App. Cases 193, 197, 47 L. J. C. P. 303, as follows:

“The judge has a certain duty to discharge, and the jurors have another and a different duty. The judge has to say whether any facts have been established by evidence from which negligence *may be* reasonably inferred, the jurors have to say whether, from those facts, when submitted to them, negligence *ought to be* inferred. It is, my opinion, of the greatest importance in the administration

of justice that these separate functions should be maintained, and should be maintained distinct. It would be a serious inroad on the province of a jury, if, in a case where there are facts from which negligence may reasonably be inferred, the judge were to withdraw the case from the jury upon the ground that, in his opinion, negligence ought not to be inferred; *and it would, on the other hand, place in the hands of the jurors a power which might be exercised in the most arbitrary manner, if they were at liberty to hold that negligence might be inferred from any state of facts whatever.*" (Latter emphasis added.)

It necessarily follows from the above, as a matter of law, that the lower court erred in submitting the question of plaintiff's contributory negligence to the jury on the basis of improper lookout for the following reasons: (1) there was no evidence whatsoever upon which to base such a finding, (2) there was no substantial evidence upon which to base such a finding, (3) there was no preponderance of evidence upon which to base such a finding, (4) reasonable minds could not differ upon the evidence in this case as to the exercise of due care by Jon Larson, (5) it clearly allowed the jury to speculate on the evidence, (6) it allowed the jury to base a finding of fact on surmise, conjecture, guess, or speculation, (7) the only evidence upon which such a finding could have been found was as consistent, and even more consistent, with the absence of negligence than with its existence, and (8) it left to the province of the jury the power to "hold that negligence might be inferred from any state of facts whatever." For the reasons the verdict and judgments are improper as a matter of law.

It might well to here point out that the trial judge, in a memorandum opinion denying the plaintiffs' motion for a new trial, assumed that the evidence indicated, and that the plaintiff driver had admitted, that he could see the lights of the defendant's car through the thick, high hedge, and that the jury, therefore, might believe that Jon Larson, after seeing the car lights through the hedge, "gave no further thought to what was happening on his right, until the instant before the collision." (R. 102). Such an assumption as to the evidence is absolutely incorrect and has no basis in the record of this case whatsoever. The evidence was conclusive that, on the night of the accident, auto lights could not be seen through the hedge from the point where the Larson vehicle commenced laying down skid marks. Furthermore, the possible jury conclusion which the trial judge indulged from the assumed facts is absolutely contrary to, and refuted by, the physical evidence of continued skid marks to the joint of impact. The trial court's declaration would allow the most flagrant type of speculation by the jury upon the evidence.

The trial court in its memorandum decision also recognized the holding in *Holmes v. Nelson*, 7 U. 2d 435, 326 P. 2d 722, and cited Justice Crockett's concurring opinion therein to the effect that "(t)he verdict, *when supported by substantial evidence* should be regarded as presumptively correct and should not be interfered with merely because the judge might disagree with the result." (Emphasis added). It is the plaintiff's contention that, in view of the authority of *Haarstrich v. Oregon Short*

Line R. Co., supra, which holds that testimony contrary to undisputed physical facts does not constitute substantial evidence, the lower court applied the doctrine of *Holmes* incorrectly in this case.

Secondly, the court instructed the jury to consider the question of whether Jon Larson had his car under control in determining the existence of contributory negligence. There is not one scintilla of evidence in the record that would warrant that portion of the instruction. The undisputed physical evidence, as set forth hereinabove, indicated the plaintiff driver's awareness and prudent reaction to the circumstances confronting him. Even the defendant admitted that the plaintiff driver attempted to avoid the accident (R. 116) thereby implying the latter's control over the vehicle while he was driving. Insofar as the evidence of the speed of the Larson car is related to the control exercised by the driver over the vehicle, the subject shall be hereafter explored in the next succeeding paragraphs.

Lastly, the jury was charged with the responsibility of determining whether the plaintiff driver was driving too fast for existing conditions as an element of contributory negligence. The lower court placed considerable emphasis upon the combination of skid marks, the force of the collision and the distance plaintiff's car traveled after impact as evidence for the jury to evaluate upon the question of speed. (R. 103). The fatal error of the court in this regard is the total absence in the record of any evidence of the prevailing speed limit or the reason-

able speed under the conditions then prevailing upon 23rd East Street. The weather was clear, the roads dry, and there was no traffic on 23rd East approaching from the north. (R. 405). The only evidence in the record of the speed of the Larson automobile prior to the accident is Jon Larson's testimony, corroborated by that of his mother, that he was traveling 25 miles per hour and the testimony of Deputy Sheriff Gunn that the skid marks revealed a speed of 30 miles per hour for the Larson auto. It was undisputed that the speed of the defendant's automobile was at least 20 miles per hour at the time of the impact (R. 119) which would account for considerable force in the actual collision and would likewise add a forward movement to the plaintiffs' automobile following impact by reason of the ultimate common direction of both vehicles and the free-wheeling of the vehicles resulting from the release of brakes caused by the impact itself as evidenced by the lack of skid marks following the point of impact. Certainly, the damage to the vehicles and their location following the point of impact is as consistent with the absence of negligence on the plaintiff driver's part as with its existence. See 65 *C.J.S.*, *Negligence*, §253, footnote 57. BUT, even assuming that such evidence is sufficient to indicate additional speed of the Larson vehicle, there is no evidence to indicate the amount of any such additional speed and no evidentiary guide whatsoever for the jury to follow in determining what speed was reasonable and prudent under the conditions and with regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing as required by *Section 41-6-46, U. C. A. 1953*, as amended.

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