1961

Walter Larson, Aleida P. Larson and Jon Larson v. Robert George Evans, M.D. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS CONFLICTING AND THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF JON LARSON AND THAT JON LARSON'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT AND PLAINTIFFS' INJURIES.

Where judgment is rendered on conflicting evidence, the evidence will be reviewed on appeal in the light most favorable to the person for whom judgment was rendered in the court below. *Weenig Bros. Inc. vs. Manning*, 1 Utah 2nd 101, 262 P 2nd 491; *North vs. Cartwright*, 119 Utah 516, 229 P. 2nd 871; *Staton vs. Western Macaroni Manufacturing Company*, 52 Utah 426, 174 P. 821. Likewise in *Martin vs. Sheffield*, 112 U. 478, 189 P. 2nd 127, where there was conflicting testimony with regard to an intersection collision, this court said where reasonable minds might differ as to which version of events should be believed and as to whether plaintiffs conduct contributed to the accident the case should be submitted to the jury.

Where a witness modifies or varies his testimony in cross examination a particular part of his testimony on direct examination which was favorable may not be singled out to the exclusion of other parts of equal importance bearing on the subject. *Alvarado vs. Tucker*, 2 Utah 2nd 16, 268 P. 2nd 986.

There were many conflicts in the plaintiff's

testimony. On cross examination (R. 409, 198) Jon Larson testified he did not see the defendant's car until it was in the intersection. On direct examination when he wanted to talk about the speed of the defendant's car he said he observed the defendant's car for two seconds (R. 173). Jon Larson testified as he entered the intersection (R. 171) he had no thought of anyone approaching from the east. The point of impact was less than one car length from the east curblane of 23rd East (See Exhibit P-4). Yet, Jon Larson claimed to have observed the defendant's car for two seconds prior to the impact to judge its speed (R. 173).

When Jon Larson's deposition was taken he told me he did not apply his brakes (R. 199). After Jon Larson heard Officer Gunn testify he said he believed he used his brakes (R. 199). At the time Jon Larson's deposition was taken he testified he never saw the defendant's auto until the front of his car was at the middle of Evergreen (R. 410). But on direct examination he testified (R. 199) he was applying the brakes of his car as he entered the intersection.

On direct examination (R. 171) Jon Larson testified his speed was 20 miles per hour as he passed the market on the Southwest corner of the intersection. Later he testified as he entered the intersection his speed was 25 miles per hour (R. 171,

409). Thereafter plaintiffs called Officer Gunn as an expert witness (R. 419) and Officer Gunn testified that based on the 40 foot skid mark only it was his opinion Jon Larson was going 30 miles per hour. On cross examination Officer Gunn hastened to add that in estimating the speed of Jon Larson he did not consider in making his estimate the distance Jon Larson's car might have travelled before it left visible skid marks, the force of the impact and the considerable damage to each vehicle, and the distance each vehicle travelled after the impact (R. 425).

Plaintiffs own witness testified that the speed of plaintiff's car was greater than 30 miles per hour. Enough greater to do considerable damage to each vehicle and to carry it 52 feet beyond the point of impact. This was another conflict in plaintiffs' case and there was substantial evidence to show plaintiff's speed was considerably in excess of 30 miles per hour.

Plaintiff's examination of the defendant (R. 123) as well as the testimony of plaintiff's witness Clifford Coon (R. 134) shows this accident occurred in a residential area. Mr. Coon testified he lived in a house on the corner (R. 134).

Section 41-6-46 (2) (b) provides the speed limit in a residential area is 25 miles per hour and this is so whether it be day or night.

Jon Larson testified he was familiar with this intersection and knew it to be a dangerous intersection (R. 409). He claimed to be particularly alert as he entered the intersection (R. 409).

Under such circumstances it is established law that what is a reasonable and prudent speed under the conditions and having regard for actual and potential hazards then existing is a matter about which there is room for considerable disagreement and such being the case a jury question is presented. *Lodder vs. Western Pacific R. Company*, 123 U. 316, 250 P. 2nd 589, 593.

Jon Larson admitted he just slowed down to 25 as he entered the intersection (R. 409). Officer Gunn testified plaintiff's car skidded into the intersection (R. 128). That indicates a substantial speed in excess of 25 miles per hour.

Exhibit P-4 shows impact occurred on plaintiff's side of road and that although Jon Larson testified (R. 405) there was no traffic entering the intersection from the North or West he did not have control enough to swerve his car to the unused side of the road.

The defendant immediately turned to the North (R. 116) and it appears without doubt that if the plaintiff had been keeping any lookout and driving at a reasonable speed he could have swerved and avoided the collision.

Many times this court has said the question of proximate cause is for the jury. In *Sweet vs. Salt Lake City*, 43 Utah 306, 325, 134 P. 1167, this court said whether the speed at which the vehicle was going at the time of the accident was the proximate cause of the accident was a question of fact. In *Horsley vs. Robinson*, 112 U. 227, 186 P. 2nd 592, this court again said the question of excessive speed and proximate cause was for the jury.

On the question of lookout in *Devereaux vs. General Electric Company*, 5 Utah 2nd 433, 304 P. 2nd 375, this court said where plaintiff failed to see defendants approaching car on the highway as plaintiff was entering the highway, it was for the jury to decide if the plaintiffs negligent failure to see the defendant's car was the proximate cause of the collision.

The question of keeping a proper lookout is generally a jury question. *Coombs vs. Perry*, 2 Utah 2nd 381, 275 P. 2nd 680; *Stickle vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 122 Utah 477, 251 P. 2nd 867; *Lowder vs. Holley*, 120 Utah 231, 233 P. 2nd 350. In *Martin vs. Sheffield*, 112 Utah 478, 189 P. 2nd 127, where accident arose out of intersection collision this court said the question as to the contributory negligence of the plaintiff in failing to keep a proper lookout was for the jury.

The rights of users of the highways are rela-

tive, and one is not relieved of the duty of using due care simply because he is the apparent possessor of the right of way and the question is whose negligence was the proximate cause of the accident and injury. *Sine vs. Salt Lake Transportation Company*, 106 Utah 289, 147 P. 2nd 875, 878, *Bullock vs. Lake*, 98 Utah 501, 98 P. 2nd 350.

Jon Larson's testimony was conflicting in all respects and it was properly submitted to the jury to evaluate.

This court in considering the plaintiffs' appeal must review the evidence, together with every inference fairly arising therefrom in the light most favorable to the defendant who prevailed in the court below. *Toomer's Estate vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 121 Utah 37, 239 P. 2nd 163, *Coombs vs. Perry*, 2 Utah 2nd 28, 275 P. 2nd 680.

POINT II

THE CREDIBILITY OF WITNESSES IS FOR THE JURY TO DECIDE.

Jon Larson admitted he did not see the defendant's car until he was right upon it in the intersection (R. 409, 198). Later he claimed to have observed it for two seconds (R. 173) going at a terrific speed. Later he said he had no thought of anyone approaching the intersection from the East (R. 171). Yet, plaintiffs called Officer Gunn who testified (R. 419) plaintiffs car was skidding long before it reached the intersection.

Jon Larson claimed he could not see through the hedge and did not see defendant's car until it was entering the intersection. The skid marks and testimony of Officer Gunn as well as Jon Larson's statement that he observed the defendant's car for two seconds (R. 173) controvert his claim that the hedge was dense and if believed would show he was warned of defendant's approach by defendant auto headlights and could not stop because of his speed or because he did not heed the warning in time.

The credibility of a witness is for the jury. *Gittens vs. Lundberg*, 3 Utah 2nd 392, 284 P. 2nd 1115; *Martin vs. Stevens*, 121 Utah 484, 243 P. 2nd 747; *Gibbs vs. Blue Cab*, 122 Utah 312, Re. 123 Utah 281, 249 P. 2nd 213.

Likewise, when a witness, whose impeachment is attempted, is a party to the action, the witness' prior contradictory statement is an admission against interest and may be considered both as an admission and for the purpose of testimony the credibility of the witness. *Rose vs. Otis* (1892) — Colorado —, 31 Pac. 493; *State vs. Hougensen*, 91 Utah 351, 64 P. 2nd 229. If a witness willfully testifies falsely as to any material matter, the jury is at liberty to disbelieve the whole of the witness' testimony. *Gittens vs. Lundberg*, 3 Utah 2nd 392, 284 P. 2nd 1115. Also, the jury, in determining whether, and to what extent to believe a witness, may consider the witness' appearance, general de-

meanor, manner of expression and candor or want of it in answering questions on both direct and cross examination. *Gittens vs. Lundberg*, 3 Utah 2nd 392, 284 P. 2nd 1115.

The general rule is that a party will not be permitted to change his story to make out a case. In *Tebbs vs. Peterson*, 122 Utah 214, 247 P. 2nd 897, where at first trial the plaintiff said he didn't remember seeing any cars coming toward him and where at second trial plaintiff said he was blinded by oncoming lights, and where trial court directed a verdict for the defendant, this court said the plaintiff was bound by his prior testimony and will not be permitted to change his story to make out a case.

It follows that in this case Jon Larson was bound by his prior testimony (R. 410) on the question of keeping a proper lookout and should not have been permitted to change his story to show he observed defendant's car for two seconds (R. 173) just to rebut defendant's claim he was not keeping a proper lookout.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF AND IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL.

Defendant incorporates herein the argument set forth under Points I and II.

POINT IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR PREJUDICIALLY IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 3.

In *Toone vs. J. P. O'Neill Construction Company*, 40 Utah 265, 121 P. 10, the court gave the following instruction to which appellant objected. The request was as follows:

“If you find from the evidence that the plaintiff upon his own judgment uninfluenced by any assurance of safety on part of the defendant’s foreman, as to whether or not the place he was standing at the time he fired the shot was safe, or if you find that the plaintiff selected the place but he fired the blast without directions or suggestions of the defendant’s foreman, then the defendant is not liable, and you should return a verdict for the defendant.

On appeal when appellant objected this court said:

“... One way the court might have followed in charging the jury would have been to charge them in separate instructions, first, in accordance with respondent’s evidence; and second in accordance with appellants evidence which related to the proposition covered by the instruction in question, and in each instruction have directed the jury to return a verdict in accordance with their findings upon that question. The court was not bound to charge the jury in separate instructions, but could cover the question in one without offending against appellant’s rights.”

It is clear from the *Toone* case in Utah you can instruct on unrelated propositions in the same

instruction and that appellant has not accurately cited the holding of the Toone case in appellant's brief. *Toone vs. J. P. O'Neill Construction Company*, 40 Utah 265, 121 P. 10.

Nor does the case of *Riding vs. Roylance*, 63 Utah 221, 224 P. 885, assist appellant. In the *Riding* case, the trial court erred in instructing jury that defendant would not be liable if driver was not employee and this instruction was held misleading as the undisputed evidence was contrary and hence the instruction was prejudicial in character. 63 Utah 221, 224 P. 885.

Instruction No. 3 was short and concise. It was not an instruction upon contributory negligence but merely an explanation to the jury what the effect of contributory negligence on the part of Jon Larson would be on the other plaintiffs. It was explanatory only in character and was a correct statement of law.

It appears Judge Faux was following the admonition in J.I.F.U. given at page XV wherein it is said, "The fewer instructions given the better".

This instruction obviously had no prejudicial effect.

POINT V

THE COURT DID NOT ERR PREJUDICALLY IN SUBMITTING INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

The negligence of the defendant was found to

be a proximate cause of the accident. He admitted his fault and further the jury in answering Interrogatory No. 1 (R. 182) showed they were not confused about the defendant's negligence as they found it proximately caused the accident and the injuries of which the plaintiff complained.

Instruction No. 8 is found in J.I.F.U. 2.3 at page 12, and of course, is a recommended jury instruction form.

The instruction was necessary because defendant had to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Jon Larson was contributorily negligent and that his negligence proximately contributed to the accident and the injuries of which plaintiffs complained.

Since the special interrogatories show the jury was not confused the cases cited in appellants' brief involving verdicts are not in point.

CONCLUSION

Because of the (1) inconsistent and contradictory statements of Jon Larson relating to lookout and speed, (2) the conflicting testimony of Jon Larson as contrasted to the physical facts with regard to speed and lookout, (3) the question of the credibility of the plaintiffs statements, and (4) the testimony of Officer Gunn, there was substantial evidence upon which the jury properly found Jon

Larson guilty of contributory negligence and that the same proximately contributed to the accident.

As Judge Faux said in his Memorandum Decision (R. 103) there was too much evidence of contributory negligence to let the jury say no contributory negligence and the verdict was justified.

Further, a review of the case shows the court below did not err prejudicially.